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The Goffe Street Special School is a two-story-plus-attic structure 
constructed of brick located at the southeast corner of Goffe and Sperry 
Streets., approximately six blocks northwest of the New Haven Green. De­ 
signed as a school building in the Italianate style, its interior has 
been remodeled to serve as a meeting hall for a Masonic Lodge although 
the exterior retains its basic original design. The surrounding neigh­ 
borhood consists primarily of one- and two-story commercial and light 
industrial buildings of 20th century origin and nondescript architectural 
character. Directly opposite on Goffe Street is the firehouse of Engine 
Company No. 6, a modern structure erected 1973? and diagonally across 
are the Florence Virtue Homes, a suburban-scaled moderate-income co-op 
housing project built in 1964*

The facade of the structure has a gable roof and is three bays wide 
with a center entrance- The wide, dentillated cornice is typical of the 
massive proportioning popular in the l£>60s. Windows are recessed slightly 
in a blind arcade and they contain 6-over-6-pane sash, A Federal Revival 
entrance portico is of delicate proportion and probably dates from immed­ 
iately after World War I, when the building was remodeled for use as a 
Parish House for St. Luke's Episcopal Church, The brick is laid in common 
bond atop a foundation of random ashlar that reaches four feet above 
ground. The roof is covered, with asphalt shingles,

The side walls are of similar proportion, five bays wide with its 
windows also set in a blind arcade* A chimney flue is built into the 
pilaster separating the third and fourth bays on either side of the build­ 
ing* The three central bays have 6-over-6-pane windows; the two on the 
outside contain somewhat narrower 4~over~4-pane sash. The rear of the 
building is t\tfo bays wide .and, has a doorway with a bracketed Victorian 
hood at the southeast corner.

A single-turn interior staircase is built against the front wall 
immediately to the right of the main entrance. Apparantly an original 
feature of the building, it has heavy, turned balusters, a moulded oak 
handrail, and a massive, turned newell post with a rounded cap.

The remainder of the first floor appears to be the work of an early 
20th century remodeling. Floors are of narrow-width oak; doors are four- 
panel with unornamented brass-plated knobs and escutcheon plates and sim­ 
ple, mitred mouldings. The third of the first floor towards the front 
contains two small offices and a storage room with a hallway in between 
which leads to the "social room", which occupies the middle third. This 
room contains two free-standing cast-iron columns, fluted and with Aeolian 
capitals, that appear to have been part of the original construction. The 
rear third of the floor contains an extension of the social room as well 
as bathroom and storage facilities.
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The Goffe Street Special School is perhaps the most notable monument 
to the history of Black people in New Haven, a city which was a center 
of abolitionist sentiment prior to the Civil War. In addition to its long 
association with the history of the local Black community, the structure 
itself is an important example of the work of Henry Austin, who was per­ 
haps Connecticut T s most influential architect in the mid~19th century.

Prior to the passage of some state legislation in 1$69, Black chil­ 
dren were excluded from the public schools of the city. Some classes were 
conducted by private individuals in their homes, most notably by Sally 
Williams, who began teaching in 1854. In 1864 a group of influential New- 
Haven citizens (Wyllys Warner. At water Treat, Chauncey Goodrich, Andrew 
DeForest, Cyrus Northrop and Thomas Merwin) met at the home of Atwater 
Treat and resolved to begin a special educational facility with the spe­ 
cific purpose of providing for "...the intellectual and moral well being 
of the colored people of the Town of New Haven and especially of their 
children. ..for the elevation and benefit of the class among us., particu­ 
larly in view of the fact that they haye been less favored than others 
as well as to educational advantages."1

The plan for the building was provided without charge by Henry Austin 
In her book New Haven A Guide to Architecture and Urban Design, Elizabeth 
Mills Brown notes "He must have rummaged in his drawer and pulled out some­ 
thing that came to hand, for the building standing here today was surely 
once destined to be a church note especially the side elevation."^

A "History of the Goffe Street School" compiled by Leroy E. Fitch 
outlines subsequent developments:

In l£66, the Trustees allowed the evening school and colored 
people to use the facilities at night. In 1869, the basement was 
remodeled as an infant T s school, and Mr. Mill Hillhouse and others 
presented a library to the school...In 1871, the State of Connecticut 
as well as the local education laws were modified and allowed for 
the public education of Negroes. As a result of this action, the

"Historical Sketch", quoted in Fitch, p. 2

P. 175
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Like the first floor, the second floor is almost entirely a product 
of the early 20th century. The stairhall occupies the front portion, 
back of which is the main Lodge Room, which measures approximately 36 by 
60 feet. A long, narrow cloak room, back stairway and bathroom are built 
along the entire east wall of this floor.

The unfinished attic, where the braced-frame construction of the 
roof is to be seen, is accessible by a steep staircase in the northwest 
corner. The basement has mostly been finished, and retains an ornate 
early 20th century tin ceiling. The furnace room at the southeast corner 
has a brick floor and a notable 19th century furnace.
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education of Negroes was approved by the City of New Haven's Board 
of Education, and the building was used to forward the welfare of 
the Negro Community in various ways. Mrs. Turner was allowed to use 
the school for sewing classes (1875); Boys* Club sponsored by the 
United Church (1389); Danish Church meeting here (1891); Hodson 
Church (1891); James S. Shell's Masonry School (1891), and Hillhouse 
Training School, which later became the Olympian Athletic Club (1892).3

The Olympian Athletic Club was chartered as the Colored Young Men's 
Christian Association in 1895- The Trustees of the Goffe Street School 
undertook large-scale modifications of the building at this time, which 
included bathing facilities on the first floor. After World War I the 
building was utilized as a Parish House and Black Community Center by St. 
Luke's Episcopal Church.

With the construction of the nearby Dixwell Community Center in 1924, 
the Trustees felt there was a much-diminished need for a facility such as 
the Goffe Street School and it was decided that the building should be sold. 
The purchaser in 1929 was the Grand Lodge of Negro Masons which, as noted 
in the Fitch history, "was interested in the keeping of this building, 
with its fine historical background, in the care and posession of New 
Haven's colored community. n^

The Lodge's commitment to the preservation of the building is summed 
up by the closing paragraph in Fitch's history:

There are very few sites anywhere, especially here in the State 
of Connecticut, more deeply imbedded with the history of the Black 
Community than the "Old Goffe Street Special School", and its contin­ 
ued service and importance to the total heritage of Blacks and the 
generous efforts of many liberal Whites for the community's general 
betterment is a monument of paramount importance. It must be pre­ 
served for posterity. 5

7 

5p. 8
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The Goffe Street Special School includes the portion of Lot 1, Block 
302 in the City of New Haven bounded as follows:

Beginning at a point of intersection of the East street line of Sperry 
Street and the South street line of Goffe Street;

Thence Southwesterly for a distance of 90 feet, more or less, to a point 
of intersection with the East property line of Lot 1;

Thence Southerly for a distance of 100 feet, more or less, to a. point of 
intersection with the South property line of Lot 1;

Thence Westerly for a distance of 110 feet, more or less, to a point of 
intersection with the East street line of Sperry Street;

Thence Northeasterly for a distance of 150 feet, more or less, to a point 
of intersection with the South street line of Goffe Street.

The parcel is shown on Map 296 of the Assesor's Maps of the City of New 
Haven«


